

**RESOLUTION OF THE LOS ANGELES CITY COUNCIL
SUBMITTING A CHARTER AMENDMENT TO THE VOTERS OF THE CITY OF
LOS ANGELES AND REQUESTING THE LOS ANGELES COUNTY BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS TO CONSOLIDATE THE ELECTION FOR THE CHARTER
AMENDMENT WITH THE STATE GENERAL ELECTION TO BE HELD ON
NOVEMBER 3, 2026**

WHEREAS, the City Council wishes to submit a Charter amendment to the qualified voters of the City of Los Angeles at a Special Election to be consolidated with the City's General Municipal Election and the State General Election held on November 3, 2026, regarding the following subject: City Ethics, Elections, and Governance; and

WHEREAS, the City Council wishes to request that the Board of Supervisors of the County of Los Angeles consolidate the City's election for the Charter amendment with the State General Election also to be held on November 3, 2026.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. The Charter amendment attached to this Resolution shall be submitted to the qualified voters of the City of Los Angeles at an election consolidated with the City's General Municipal Election and the State General Election held on November 3, 2026.

Sec. 2. The vote requirement for the Charter amendment to pass is a majority of the votes cast.

Sec. 3. The ballot title and question for the Charter amendment shall be as follows and shall include a letter designation as determined by the City Council in accordance with applicable City and State law:

CITY ETHICS, ELECTIONS, AND GOVERNANCE. CHARTER AMENDMENT

_____.

Shall the City Charter be amended to: increase the authority of the Police Department Inspector General and Fire Department Independent Assessor; prohibit Ethics Commissioners from running for certain elected offices for five years; increase penalties for campaign finance violations; require City Council to meet at least weekly rather than the currently required three days per week; increase referendum petition signature requirements; and make other changes regarding ethics, elections and governance?

Sec. 4. The City Clerk is hereby authorized to make technical and formatting adjustments to the attached Charter amendment to facilitate presentation in ballot materials.

Sec. 5. The City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to publish a notice containing the text of proposed City ballot measures and specifying the date of the election for the ballot measures. The notice shall be published once in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Los Angeles.

Sec. 6. The City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to publish once in a newspaper of general circulation that copies of voter information pamphlets containing proposed City ballot measures may be obtained upon request in the City Clerk's office. The City Clerk is directed to prepare and keep in the City Clerk's office a sufficient supply of copies of the voter information pamphlets and to distribute them to persons requesting a copy. Further, the City Clerk is authorized and directed to mail copies of the voter information pamphlets to the qualified voters of the City of Los Angeles.

Sec. 7. The City Council respectfully requests the Board of Supervisors of the County of Los Angeles to order the consolidation of the City's election for the ballot measure with the State General Election to be held on November 3, 2026, and to canvass the returns of the election and transmit the certified election results to the City.

Sec. 8. The City Clerk shall administer the filing, printing, and distribution of all items contained in the City's Voter Information Pamphlet as provided in the City Election Code, including impartial summaries, ballot arguments, and rebuttal arguments regarding City ballot measures. In other particulars, the above-described election shall be held and conducted as provided in State Elections Code 10418 and other applicable law for the holding of elections consolidated with the State General Election.

Sec. 9. The City Council requests the Board of Supervisors to fix the costs to be paid by the City of Los Angeles for consolidation of the City's election with the State General Election. The City will reimburse the County for the City's share of the costs incurred in conducting the City's election consistent with the cost estimate provided by the Registrar-Recorder/County Clerk and agreed to between the County and the City.

Sec. 10. The City Clerk shall file a duly certified copy of this Resolution with the Board of Supervisors and County Registrar-Recorder/County Clerk.

I hereby certify that the foregoing Resolution was adopted by the City Council of the City of Los Angeles at its meeting held on _____.

I CERTIFY THAT THE FOREGOING
RESOLUTION WAS ADOPTED BY THE
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LOS ANGELES
AT ITS MEETING OF 6/30/2026
BY A MAJORITY OF ALL ITS MEMBERS

PATRICE Y. LATTIMORE, City Clerk



By Maui VJ
DEPUTY

By _____
Deputy

M:\GENERAL
Ethics\Ethics

ION\ORDINANCES AND REPORTS\BALLOT MEASURES\FINALS\2026
ernance Charter Amendment -- Ballot Resolution Revised 6.30.26.docx

TEXT OF THE PROPOSED BALLOT MEASURE
CHARTER AMENDMENT _____
(CITY ETHICS, ELECTIONS, AND GOVERNANCE)

Section 1. Section 103 of the Charter of the City of Los Angeles is amended to read as follows:

Every City office and department, and every City official and employee, is expected to perform their functions with diligence and dedication on behalf of the people of the City of Los Angeles. In the delivery of City services and in the performance of its tasks, the government shall endeavor to perform at the highest levels of achievement, including efficiency, accessibility, accountability, quality, use of technologically advanced methods, and responsiveness to public concerns within budgetary limitations. Every analysis and review of the performance of the government and its officers shall seek to ascertain whether these high standards are being met, and if not, shall recommend methods of improvement. The City shall adopt and maintain ordinances and policies to reasonably ensure that its communications, programs, and public engagement are accessible across the languages spoken by its residents, and that outreach reflects the cultural and linguistic communities of the City.

Sec. 2. Section 242 of the Charter of the City of Los Angeles, regarding the City Council's conduct of business, is amended to read as follows:

Sec. 242. Conduct of Business.

The Council shall be the sole judge of the election and qualification of its members. Meetings and records of the proceedings of the Council and of the committees of the Council shall be open to the public, except that closed sessions may be held as permitted by law. The Council shall have the exclusive power to organize its business, prescribe the rules of its proceedings and preserve order at its meetings, subject to the following:

(a) The Council shall hold regular meetings at least weekly ~~at least three days each week~~. Meetings may be held in City Hall or elsewhere in the City. By resolution, the Council may establish periods during which the Council or its committees will be in recess. The Council and its committees may also each hold special meetings with proper notice.

(b) The Council, by ordinance or resolution, shall establish a sufficient number of committees to enable it to carry out its duties. The duty of the Council and its committees is to become fully informed of the business of the City so as to oversee all the functions of the City government, and to report to the Council any information or recommendations necessary to enable the Council to properly legislate. Committees shall have the power of investigation, but shall have no administrative control over the

various functions of the City government. The administration of the City government shall be vested in the officials designated in the Charter to perform those functions. The President of the Council shall appoint the members and the chair of the committees and each Council member shall be appointed to at least one committee.

Sec. 3. The first paragraph of Section 245 of the Charter of the City of Los Angeles, regarding the timing of City Council veto of board actions, is amended to read as follows

Sec. 245. City Council Veto of Board Actions.

Actions of boards of commissioners shall become final at the expiration of the next 15 calendar days ~~five meeting days of the Council~~ during which the Council has convened in regular session, unless the Council acts within that time by two-thirds vote to bring the action before it or to waive review of the action, except that as to any action of the Board of Police Commissioners regarding the removal of the Chief of Police, the time period within which the Council may act before the action of the Board shall become final shall be 21 calendar days ~~ten meeting days~~ during which the Council has convened in regular session

Sec. 4. Subsection (a) of Section 461 of the Charter of the City of Los Angeles, regarding referendary petitions, is amended to read as follows:

(a) The referendary petition circulated for signature shall contain the full text of the subject ordinance. All names signed to a petition must have been secured within 30 days after publication of the ordinance. Any signature affixed outside of this time period shall not be counted in determining the sufficiency of the petition. To qualify for presentation to the Council, a referendary petition must be signed by registered voters of the City in an amount equal to 15% ~~10%~~ of the total number of votes cast for all candidates for the office of Mayor at the last general municipal election, or primary nominating election at which a Mayor was elected prior to the filing of the petition.

Sec. 5. Subparagraph (A) of Subdivision (2) of Subsection (o) of Section 470 of the Charter of the City of Los Angeles, regarding enforcement of the City's campaign finance laws, is amended to read as follows:

(A) Any person who intentionally or negligently violates any provision of this section shall be liable in a civil action brought by the City Attorney or by a person residing within the City. Where no specific civil penalty is provided, a person may be liable for each violation for an amount up to the greater of fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000) two thousand dollars (\$2,000) for each violation, adjusted annually to reflect changes in the Consumer Price Index, or three times the amount which the person improperly reported or unlawfully contributed, expended, gave, or received.

Sec. 6. Subsection (b) of Section 514 of the Charter of the City of Los Angeles, regarding the transfer of powers of departments, offices, and boards, is amended to read as follows:

(b) **Exceptions.** The power of the Mayor and Council to act as provided in this section shall not extend to:

- (1) Elected Offices;
- (2) Proprietary Departments;
- (3) Los Angeles City Employees' Retirement System;
- (4) Department of Fire and Police Pensions;
- (5) City Ethics Commission;
- (6) The disciplinary functions of the Fire Department and the Police Department as contained in Sections 1060 and 1070; and
- (7) The Police Department and the Fire Department, if the transfer or consolidation would significantly alter or affect the primary purpose or character of the departments.
- (8) Independent Redistricting Commission.

Sec. 7. Section 523 of the Charter of the City of Los Angeles, regarding the Fire Department Independent Assessor, is amended to read as follows:

Sec. 523. Independent Assessor.

The Independent Assessor shall report to the Board of Fire Commissioners and shall have the same access to Fire Department information as the Board of Fire Commissioners. The Independent Assessor shall have the power and duty to:

- (a) under rules established by the Board of Fire Commissioners, audit, assess and review the Fire Department's handling of complaints of misconduct committed by employees, sworn or civilian, of the Fire Department;
- (b) conduct any audit or assessment requested by majority vote of the board;
- (c) initiate any assessment or audit of the Fire Department or any portion of the Fire Department with prior notice to the Board of Fire Commissioners, ~~and subject to the authority of the board by majority vote to direct the Independent Assessor not to commence or continue an assessment or audit;~~

(d) keep the board informed of the status of all pending assessments and audits; and

(e) appoint, discharge, discipline, transfer and issue instructions to employees under his or her direction.

Sec. 8. Section 573 of the Charter of the City of Los Angeles, regarding the Police Department Inspector General, is amended to read as follows:

Sec. 573. Inspector General.

The Inspector General shall report to the Board of Police Commissioners and shall have the same access to Police Department information as the Board of Police Commissioners. The Inspector General shall have the power and duty to:

(a) under rules established by the Board of Police Commissioners, audit, investigate and oversee the Police Department's handling of complaints of misconduct by police officers and civilian employees and perform other duties as may be assigned by the board;

(b) conduct any audit or investigation requested by majority vote of the board;

(c) initiate any investigation or audit of the Police Department without prior authorization of the Board of Police Commissioners, ~~subject to the authority of the board by majority vote to direct the Inspector General not to commence or continue an investigation or audit;~~

(d) keep the board informed of the status of all pending investigations and audits; and

(e) appoint, discharge, discipline, transfer and issue instructions to employees under his or her direction.

Sec. 9. Subsection (d) of Section 700 of the Charter of the City of Los Angeles, regarding the City Ethics Commission, is amended to read as follows:

(d) Qualifications. Each member of the commission shall be a registered voter of the City. A member or former member of the commission shall not be a candidate for any City office or Los Angeles Unified School District Board of Education office unless the election for that office is to be held at least five years after the last date of service of the commissioner. An Executive Director or former Executive Director of the commission shall not be a candidate for any City office or Los Angeles Unified School District Board of Education office unless the election for that office is to be held at least five years after the last date of service of the Executive Director. ~~Neither a member of the commission nor its Executive Director shall seek election to any City office or Los Angeles Unified School District Board of Education office concerning which the~~

~~commission has made a decision during the term of the commissioner or Executive Director unless the election for that office is to be held at least two years following the expiration of the term of office of the commissioner or Executive Director. During their tenure, neither a member of the commission nor its Executive Director shall:~~

- (1) hold any other public office;
- (2) participate in or contribute to a City election campaign;
- (3) participate in or contribute to an election campaign for a member of the Los Angeles Unified School District Board of Education;
- (4) participate in or contribute to a City official or member of the Los Angeles Unified School District Board of Education running for any elective office;
- (5) employ or be employed as a person required to register as a lobbyist with the City of Los Angeles;
- (6) have an ownership interest in a business (other than stock in a publicly traded company) that contracts with or seeks discretionary approvals from the City; or personally provide compensated services to the City under a contract;
- (7) provide compensated advice or services to a political campaign or to a committee controlled by a City officeholder; or
- (8) contribute to committees such that the individual qualifies as a major donor as provided under the Political Reform Act.

Sec. 10. The amendments made to Subsection (d) of Section 700 of the Charter of the City of Los Angeles shall apply only to a member or executive director of the City Ethics Commission whose last date of City service is on or after the effective date of this Charter amendment.

Sec. 11. Sections 900 through 914 of the Charter of the City of Los Angeles, regarding Neighborhood Councils, are amended to read as follows:

Sec. 900. Purpose.

To promote more civic ~~citizen~~-participation in government and make government more responsive to local needs, a citywide system of Nneighborhood Councils, and a Department of Neighborhood Empowerment is created. Neighborhood Councils shall include representatives of the many diverse interests in communities and shall have an advisory role on issues of concern to the neighborhood.

Sec. 901. Department of Neighborhood Empowerment.

The Department of Neighborhood Empowerment shall have the duties and responsibilities set forth in this Article and elsewhere in the Charter to implement and oversee the ordinances and regulations creating the system of Nneighborhood Councils enacted pursuant to Section 905. Duties and responsibilities shall include:

- (a) prepare a plan for the creation of a system of Nneighborhood Councils to ensure that every part of the City is within the boundary of a Nneighborhood Council, and has an opportunity to form a Nneighborhood Council (Plan);
- (b) assist neighborhoods in preparing petitions for recognition or certification, identifying boundaries that do not divide communities, and organizing themselves, in accordance with the Plan;
- (c) arrange Congress of Neighborhood meetings if requested to do so by recognized Nneighborhood Councils;
- (d) assist Nneighborhood Councils with the election or selection of their board member~~officers~~;
- (e) arrange training for Nneighborhood Councils' officers and staff;
- (f) assist Nneighborhood Councils to share resources, including offices, equipment, and other forms of support for them to communicate with constituents, other Nneighborhood Councils and with government officials; and
- (g) perform other duties as provided by ordinance.

Sec. 902. Board of Neighborhood Commissioners.

(a) There shall be a board of seven commissioners to be known as the Board of Neighborhood Commissioners (board). Commissioners shall be appointed by the Mayor, and shall be from diverse geographic areas, as further specified by ordinance. Appointment and removal of commissioners shall otherwise be in accordance with Section 502.

(b) The board shall be responsible for policy setting and policy oversight, including the approval of contracts and leases and the promulgation of rules and regulations, but shall not be responsible for day-to-day management.

(c) The board shall operate in accordance with Sections 503 through 508 and 510 of the Charter.

Sec. 903. General Manager.

(a) There shall be a general manager of the Department of Neighborhood Empowerment who shall be appointed by the Mayor, subject to confirmation by the City Council, and may be removed as provided in Section 508.

(b) The general manager shall have those powers and duties set forth in Section 510.

(c) The general manager shall appoint, discharge and prescribe the duties of staff, consistent with the civil service provisions of the Charter.

Sec. 904. Development and Maintenance of the Neighborhood Council Plan.

The Department of Neighborhood Empowerment shall develop a Plan for a citywide system of Nneighborhood Councils, in conformance with the following:

(a) The Department of Neighborhood Empowerment shall seek public input in the formulation of the Plan.

(b) The Plan shall contain a statement of goals, policies and objectives of the Neighborhood Council system, and shall contain specific regulations, in draft ordinance format (Regulations) which, if adopted by ordinance, would be sufficient to implement the Plan.

(c) The Regulations shall establish the method by which boundaries of Nneighborhood Councils will be determined. The system for determining boundaries shall maintain neighborhood boundaries to the maximum extent feasible, and may consider community planning district boundaries where appropriate.

(d) The Regulations must ensure that all areas of the City are given an equal opportunity to form Nneighborhood Councils.

(e) The Regulations shall establish the procedure and criteria for recognition or certification of Nneighborhood Councils.

(f) The Regulations shall not restrict the method by which the members of a Nneighborhood Councils are chosen, if the process otherwise satisfies the requirements of this Article.

(g) The Regulations shall require that Nneighborhood Councils adopt fair and open procedures for the conduct of their business.

(h) The Mayor and City Council shall provide for the creation of the Department of Neighborhood Empowerment and appointment of the general manager within 120 days of the effective date of this Article.

Sec. 905. Initial Implementation of the Plan.

The Department of Neighborhood Empowerment shall complete development of the Plan and present the Plan and all necessary Regulations for a system of Nneighborhood Councils to the City Council and Mayor within one year of the establishment of the department and commission. The City Council shall consider the Regulations, and within six months after presentation of the Plan to City Council may adopt ordinances to implement the Regulations as proposed, or as modified by the City Council consistent with the requirements of the Plan set forth in Section 904. If implementing ordinances are not adopted within this time period, the Regulations shall become effective, and to the extent not inconsistent with law shall be binding upon all City departments and offices.

Sec. 906. Certification of Neighborhood Councils.

(a) **By-laws.** Each Nneighborhood Council seeking official certification or recognition from the City shall submit an organization plan and by-laws to the Department of Neighborhood Empowerment showing, at a minimum:

- (1) the method by which their board members ~~officers~~ are chosen;
- (2) Nneighborhood Council membership will be open to all stakeholders, ~~as defined by ordinance everyone who lives, works or owns property in the area (stakeholders);~~
- (3) assurances that the members of the Nneighborhood Council will reflect the diverse interests within their area;
- (4) a system through which the Nneighborhood Council will communicate with stakeholders on a regular basis;
- (5) a system for financial accountability of its funds; and
- (6) guarantees that all meetings will be open and public, and permit, to the extent feasible, every stakeholder to participate in the conduct of business, deliberation and decision-making.

(b) **Petitioning for Certification and Approval.** Nneighborhood Councils may petition for certification or recognition in accordance with rules and procedures set forth in the Plan.

Sec. 907. Advance Notice and Opportunities for Input~~Early Warning System~~.

The Regulations shall establish procedures for receiving input from Nneighborhood Councils prior to decisions by the City Council, City Council Committees and boards and commissions. The procedures shall include, but need not be limited to, notice to Nneighborhood Councils as soon as practical, and a reasonable

opportunity to provide input before decisions are made. Notices to be provided include matters to be considered by the City Council, City Council Committees, and City boards or commissions.

Sec. 908. Powers of Neighborhood Councils.

Subject to applicable law, the City Council may delegate its authority to Nneighborhood Councils to hold public hearings prior to the City Council making a decision on a matter of local concern.

Sec. 909. Annual City Budget Priorities.

Each Nneighborhood Councils may present to the Mayor and City Council an annual list of priorities for the City budget. The Mayor shall inform certified Nneighborhood Councils of the deadline for submission so that the input may be considered in a timely fashion.

Sec. 910. Monitoring of City Services.

Nneighborhood Councils shall monitor the delivery of City services in their respective areas and have periodic meetings with responsible officials of City departments, subject to their reasonable availability.

Sec. 911. Appropriation.

The Mayor and City Council shall appropriate funds for the Department of Neighborhood Empowerment and for the startup and functioning of Nneighborhood Councils for the first two years after the effective date of this Article. Funds shall be appropriated into a special fund to be established by ordinance. The Mayor and City Council shall thereafter appropriate funds for the department and Nneighborhood Councils at least one year in advance of each subsequent fiscal year.

Sec. 912. Review.

The Mayor and City Council shall appoint a commission as prescribed by ordinance to evaluate the provisions of this Article, the Regulations adopted pursuant to this Article, and the efficacy of the system of Nneighborhood Councils no later than seven years after the adoption of the Charter. The commission shall make recommendations to the City Council regarding changes to the Charter or the Regulations, as it deems appropriate.

Sec. 913. Transfer of Powers.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Charter, the Mayor and City Council shall not transfer powers, duties or functions of the Department of Neighborhood

Empowerment to any other department, office or agency pursuant to Section 514 during the first five years after implementation of the Plan pursuant to Section 905.

Sec. 914. Effect of Ordinances.

The City Council may adopt ordinances concerning Nneighborhood Councils consistent with requirements for the Plan set forth in Section 904 at any time, which ordinances shall supersede any inconsistent Regulations that have become effective pursuant to Section 905.

Sec. 12. Severability. If any section, subsection, clause, sentence, phrase, or application of this Charter amendment or any portion thereof is held unconstitutional or invalid by any court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction, the remaining sections, subsections, clauses, sentences, phrases, portions, or applications of this Charter amendment shall remain in full force and effect, and to this end the provisions of this Charter amendment are severable. In addition, the voters declare that they would have passed all sections, subsections, clauses, sentences, phrases, portions, and applications of this Charter amendment without the section, subsection, clause, sentence, phrase, portion, or application held unconstitutional or invalid.

M:\GENERAL COUNSEL DIVISION\ORDINANCES AND REPORTS\BALLOT MEASURES\FINALS\2026
Ethics\Ethics Elections and Governance Charter Amendment -- TEXT of Ballot Measure Revised 6.30.26.docx